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The Cold War, like the world wars, was driven by huge global forces, but measured its casualties in a myriad of individual tragedies. In Spies and Sparrows Phillip Deery, Australia’s pre-eminent Cold War historian, relates the painful stories of eight of ASIO’s targets and informants. Deery combines his profound knowledge of the international and national political context and extensive archival research in Australia, Britain and the United States with empathetic insight into each subject’s personal experience, to reveal a new and important perspective on Australia’s Cold War.


PETER EDWARDS


Deery offers fascinating insights into the murky world of ASIO’s intelligence-gathering on communists in Australia from the 1950s to the 1970s, based on Australian and UK intelligence files. The vividly drawn characters range from the patriotic Christian housewife who became a ‘sparrow’ (penetration agent) in the Adelaide Communist Party to the nervy Czech ‘walk-in’ who was an ASIO spy on both the CPA and the Trotskyites. A must-read for intelligence buffs and anyone who enjoys a good story.


SHEILA FITZPATRICK


Phillip Deery’s wide-ranging biographical studies have made him a leading expert on Cold War security in the West. In this intriguing collection he returns with enhanced insight to notable Australian victims and to those responsible—ASIO’s sparrows.


STUART MACINTYRE


Phillip Deery has written a fascinating account of the human side of the Cold War in Australia. Spies and Sparrows paints eight personal portraits of the victims and victors of the Cold War. Some were courageous idealists, some were self-serving activists and others were oddballs, but, as Deery shows us, all were motivated by political passions that led them into the world of secrecy, surveillance and betrayal. Deeply researched, Spies and Sparrows performs a highly impressive job in lifting the veil of secrecy over Australia’s hidden history.
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INTRODUCTION


How important is the work of the Australian Security Intelligence Organisation (ASIO)? ‘It’s so fucking necessary it’s frightening. We could tip either way.’1 So says Alex, an ASIO case officer in the 2005 play The Spook, set in 1965 when the Communist Party of Australia (CPA) was a shadow of its former strength. Alex’s comment touches on ASIO’s concerns about the perceived threat to national security from communists and its readiness to employ agents to infiltrate communist organisations.


The fictional ‘spook’ in this play was drawn from the actual experiences of Phil Geri, a Bendigo hospital orderly who was recruited by ASIO at the age of nineteen. He was a Catholic, a member of the Citizens Military Force and highly patriotic. ‘I didn’t know what ASIO was. I was keen on the CMF and thought it was another arm of the army.’ In 1963 he joined the Bendigo branch of the CPA, which was ‘very small, mainly elderly people who met in private homes and talked about the workers’ cause’. He soon became a delegate to the state conference of the CPA, at which he memorised faces and during lengthy debriefings matched them to the hundreds of photographs taken by ASIO. But ‘I would look at the CPA members in their 60s and 70s, and think: “What are you doing here, Phil, talking a load of crap? There is no real security information coming out”’.


Geri’s unease was not immediately overwhelming, since he remained an agent for twenty-three years. After the membership of the Bendigo branch dwindled to three, ASIO re-deployed him to penetrate the apparently more dangerous and certainly more secretive Maoist-aligned Communist Party of Australia (Marxist-Leninist). His coup was obtaining inner-party documents circulated at the CPA (M-L) national conference. But such ‘successes’ carried costs: ‘It was a very lonely time. My whole life changed … now I was regarded as a radical left-winger. Bendigo people just didn’t know what had happened to me. It was extremely difficult to live with, and still is’.2


The experiences of spooks, or sparrows (as ASIO termed its active agents), their handling by ASIO, and the intelligence they divulged, are central concerns of this book. Operation Sparrow was an ASIO plan to insert an agent in every local branch of the CPA. By 1972 it employed up to five hundred sparrows in 120 branches across Australia. To appreciate ASIO’s role we need to understand the circumstances of its establishment and the atmosphere in which it operated. This background is discussed below. In revealing the impact ASIO had on Australians’ lives, the book introduces eight individuals intimately involved with the conduct of the Cold War. These individual biographies will be positioned against the backdrop of broader domestic developments, helping us to understand the transformative impact of the Cold War on ordinary citizens. Some of the individuals were motivated by anti-communism and collaborated with the security services; they believed that the Cold War was indeed a war, which had to be fought. Others examined in this book were motivated by the communist cause, resisted the dominant anti-communist consensus and became Cold War casualties; their stories provide a salutary reminder of how lives can be blighted when individuals are regarded as a national security threat.



THE COLD WAR CONTEXT


By 1948, the world was frozen into two competing power blocs. The Truman Doctrine of March 1947 represented a major shift in American foreign policy: the United States would now intervene, on behalf of ‘the free world’, to prevent the spread of Soviet communism. The global division was confirmed by the inaugural conference of the Soviet-created Cominform (Communist Information Bureau) in October 1947, which decreed a world divided into two intractably hostile camps: a progressive, peace-loving camp led by the Soviet Union and an imperialist, warmongering camp led by the United States.


Throughout 1948, tensions and anxieties in Washington, Whitehall and Canberra rose as Soviet expansionism in Europe threatened. There was the communist takeover in Czechoslovakia in February, the likelihood of a communist electoral victory in Italy in April, the beginning of the Berlin blockade in June, which lasted eleven months, and all the while the bolts of the Iron Curtain were being fastened more firmly. In 1949, Cold War fears deepened and intensified. Policymakers in the West would never forget this ‘year of shocks’.


For the United States, the first shock was its ‘loss’ of China. A monolithic concept of communism was central to Cold War ideology, so Mao’s success was seen as a victory for the Kremlin, whose long-term strategy of world conquest had taken a new direction. The second shock was the loss of its atomic monopoly. The detonation of a Soviet atomic bomb undermined any sense of omnipotence. In the event of World War III, which now seemed likely, the US would be facing something like a military equal: it had ideological righteousness but not technological superiority. With this realisation, polarisation became complete and anti-communism became obsessional.


The idea that democracy was under siege from communism operated on two levels. The first was the external threat: expansionism from the Soviet Union and the spread of its ideology. The second was the internal fear: subversion from within. The twin questions of national security and loyalty came into sharp focus during the Cold War, and the principal objects were local communist parties that owed allegiance to the Soviet Union. The CPA was no exception.


The Cold War hostility to communism gripped Australian domestic politics. During 1949, Lance Sharkey, the general secretary of the CPA, was jailed for sedition; the defection and ‘revelations’ of Cecil Sharpley, a former communist leader, led to a lengthy royal commission into communism in Victoria; and a bitter general coal strike, which paralysed the economy for two months, was believed to be CPA-inspired and was ruthlessly broken.


The leading public propagandists and crusaders against communism were the conservative forces in Australian society. In their push to outlaw the CPA, they gained an increasingly sturdy platform, a wider audience and a more sympathetic reception. The Opposition leader, Robert Menzies, promised to ban the CPA if he became prime minister. Implicit in Menzies’ argument was that legal proscription was necessary only in a state of war. The Party had already been outlawed during a war (by Menzies in 1940) and it now seemed that the only ingredient missing was the sound of the guns. In all other respects, they were engaged in a desperate battle with a dangerous enemy. In June 1950, the guns did sound when the Cold War turned hot in Korea.


When Vladimir and Evdokia Petrov arrived in Canberra from Moscow in February 1951, the political situation in Australia was highly volatile. The newly elected Menzies government had already passed its Communist Party Dissolution Bill in 1950. Raids on communists’ homes and offices were conducted, and plans for internment camps moved from the logistical to the operational. A few weeks after the Petrovs’ arrival, the High Court of Australia declared the legislation invalid and Menzies’ drive to ‘ban the Reds’ now moved to the public domain. He announced a referendum to decide the issue: to vote ‘Yes’—and this was the position favoured by 70 per cent of Australians at the beginning of the campaign—would give the government the constitutional power to ban the CPA. It was a long, gruelling and bitterly fought campaign that deeply gouged the political landscape. In the middle of the campaign, on 7 July 1951, Vladimir Petrov met a remarkable, almost bizarre individual, at the Russian Social Club. It was Michael Bialoguski, a pro-Soviet, Russian-speaking Polish émigré. Bialoguski was also an ASIO agent. And it was he who persuaded Petrov to defect.


Without the Petrovs’ defection there would have been no Royal Commission on Espionage (RCE). And without the RCE there would have been no public disclosure of ‘a nest of traitors’ within a government department. ASIO already knew of this espionage network, and that knowledge came from the Venona decrypts. What Venona revealed, but could not be disclosed, Petrov confirmed. Because Venona underpinned the formation of ASIO, some elaboration is necessary.


THE VENONA PROJECT


Venona was the codename used by Western intelligence to denote a remarkable interception and code-breaking operation from 1943 to 1980.3 In 1948, the year before ASIO was established, a small group of cryptographers in Washington’s Arlington Hall cracked, or decrypted, a portion of previously unbreakable highly classified Soviet diplomatic cables sent between Moscow and its embassies in the Western countries. The top secret Venona project—so secret that President Truman was not ‘indoctrinated’—represented a stunning counterespionage breakthrough. It revealed extensive Soviet espionage networks in the West.


The accomplices to this espionage were covert members of communist parties around the world. They achieved, mainly during World War II when the Soviet Union was an ally, high-level penetration of government agencies, bureaucracies and atomic energy establishments. Especially disturbing was the revelation that America’s most closely guarded wartime secret—the Manhattan Project at Los Alamos, which produced the atomic bomb in 1945—had been penetrated. ENORMOZ was the Soviet intelligence codename for operations to collect atomic information. The decrypted cables were instrumental in identifying and, in some cases, neutralising Soviet intelligence networks that had operated during World War II and into the late 1940s. They pointed directly to espionage activity by Klaus Fuchs and Julius Rosenberg and, in Australia, to Walter Clayton, codenamed KLOD.


Altogether, some 2900 Soviet intelligence cables were intercepted and, to varying degrees, deciphered. Without them, the edifice for McCarthyism would have been considerably more flimsy (J Edgar Hoover, instrumental within McCarthyism, was privy to Venona); and without them, the breadth and depth of Soviet intelligence operations in the West would have been grossly underestimated. But it was not until 1995 that materials from Venona were declassified by the US National Security Agency and details of the project publicly disclosed. The Venona decrypts are, evidently, important to historians of espionage.


It is now indisputable that the establishment of ASIO in 1949 was due to Venona, not to concerns about the political or industrial strength of the CPA, which by then was declining in influence, prestige and membership. The Venona decrypts revealed that Australia was a security risk, and this knowledge led to the US embargo on the sharing of top-grade intelligence to Australia. Consequently, the Chifley government was susceptible to intense British pressure to reorganise its security service. It was British classified information, shared with Australia, that Venona decrypts confirmed was passed to the Soviets. Under the guidance of senior MI5 officials who visited Australia in 1948, a new security service modelled on MI5 structures was created. ASIO was formally established on 16 March 1949, replacing the Commonwealth Investigation Service which transferred its files throughout 1949 and 1950. The raison d’être of this new organisation was ‘The Case’: the identification of the nature, extent and source of the leaks of classified information provided by the British, pilfered by Australians and transmitted to the Russians. ASIO, in short, was formed primarily to hunt spies—hence the title of the first volume of the official history of ASIO: The Spy Catchers.4 And there were spies in Australia and they did pass secrets.


Although ASIO unmasked Wally Clayton’s spy network—more an informal group of about ten contacts than a tight, coherent ‘spy ring’ in the style of Julius Rosenberg’s New York network—no arrests were made for fear of compromising the secrecy of Venona. Pursuing ‘The Case’, as it was internally known, was ASIO’s principal counterespionage function in the 1950s. Yet ASIO made little meaningful distinction between the small handful of ‘non-legal’ or covert communists who engaged in espionage activity and the thousands of CPA members and ‘fellow travellers’ who immersed themselves in daily struggles within trade unions, on local councils and through front organisations; who campaigned for better working conditions and greater social justice; who sided with the underprivileged and the dispossessed; and who were neither aware of espionage nor would have sanctioned it. Of the 23 000 Australian communists, its peak in 1944, about 22 990 were not involved in passing classified information to the Soviet Union. But both groups were tarred with the same brush of disloyalty and treason. In ASIO’s collective world view in the 1950s and 1960s, communism, subversion and spying (or the potential for spying) became synonymous. The categories were interchangeable, and this haunted communism’s supporters during the early Cold War. Three casualties of this conflation—Thomas Kaiser, Paul James and Demetrius Anastassiou—are examined in this book.


THE US EMBARGO


As mentioned above, Venona was responsible for a serious rupture in Australian–American relations. It revealed to the Americans that Australian security was lax and this assessment, more than any other factor, prompted the abrupt cessation of all classified military information flowing from Washington to Canberra. As we shall see in Chapter 1, the Kaiser case undermined efforts to lift the security embargo, and the embargo transformed Kaiser from a doctoral student into a national security risk. Why was the embargo so significant, and why did it so deeply shock the Australian government?


On advice from the CIA, recommended by the State–Army–Navy–Air Coordinating Committee (SANACC), and authorised by President Truman, the embargo commenced in June 1948 and was not lifted (and then only to a very limited extent) until March 1950. It automatically downgraded Australia to the lowest category—‘Category E’—among those countries that had diplomatic representation in Washington. For Prime Minister JB (Ben) Chifley, this was a bitter blow to the reputation of his government and the prestige of the country. In an understatement, he referred to the ‘serious repercussions’ and the ‘invidious position’ resulting from the embargo.5


Most importantly, the embargo denied access to ‘vital’ research data on guided missiles and effectively prevented the training in the United Kingdom of Australian scientists intending to work on the all-important Long Range Weapons Project (LRWP).6 Despite the US Atomic Energy Act 1946 (better known as the McMahon Act) dampening British hopes of Anglo-American cooperation and thereby stimulating an independent atomic program, and notwithstanding the Australian dimension of the LRWP being a key element in British defence policy, the UK acceded to Washington’s insistence that US classified information not be shared with Australian scientists. The embargo therefore significantly hindered the development of Australia’s defence program and thwarted its aspirations for atomic development. This was the all-important context for Kaiser being considered an intolerable irritant to the restoration of a workable security relationship with the United States and for him becoming ‘a person of interest’ to ASIO.


ASIO’s counterespionage brief, triggered by Venona and assisted by the Petrovs, was increasingly supplemented by its countersubversion function. Here, ASIO crossed the boundary from being a professional agency that collected, evaluated and transmitted intelligence, to a sometimes disreputable, often politicised and always shadowy presence, not just monitoring communists but also peace activists, scientists, academics, journalists and writers, many of whom were not members of the CPA. It is difficult to discern how these individuals were ‘working towards the forcible overthrow of constitutional government’—Justice Robert Hope’s definition of subversion during the first Royal Commission on Intelligence and Security (1974–77). The human costs of ASIO’s monitoring of domestic dissenters are difficult to measure. It is only through recovering stories such as those told in this book that otherwise hidden histories of personal damage inflicted by ASIO on lawful protesters alleged to be subversives can be revealed.


In these stories we can observe how lives were altered and careers obstructed by ASIO. When individuals engaged in political dissent, they were ‘adversely recorded’ or considered subversive. The word ‘subversive’ was crucial. Protection of the nation against subversion was one of ASIO’s functions, but it was a vague and slippery concept. Neither the prime ministerial executive order that established ASIO in 1949 nor the Australian Security Intelligence Organisation Act 1956 provided any definition of subversion. As Justice Hope commented in 1977, this opened the door to the organisation and its officers ‘mistaking mere dissent or nonconformity for subversion’ and thereby impinging on ‘legitimate political behaviour’.7 Very few of ASIO’s left-wing targets constituted a sufficient threat to national security to justify ASIO’s compilation of dossiers, reliance on informants, vetting for public service boards, and immigration and passport controls. The individual cases are a small part of a much bigger story of ASIO harassment in the early Cold War. Organisations that had a pronounced left-wing bias—certain trade unions, community associations, university groups, Labor Party branches and, as we shall see, particularly the peace movement—were also targeted and subjected to politicised surveillance.


SPARROWS


An indispensable means of acquiring information about communists and left-wing organisations and activists was through the use of undercover sparrows, or penetration agents, by the security services.8 Normally, Australian undercover agents remain obscure, and their anonymity protected. Their intelligence activity is necessarily shrouded in secrecy and attempts to reveal their clandestine operations are circumscribed by legislation.9 However, there are significant exceptions. ASIO has released the files of the operational careers of William Dobson, Anne Neill and Maxmilian Wechsler. Their highly unusual stories are the focus of three chapters of this book, and they illuminate the murky, shadowy world of covert intelligence gathering. By placing their trust in ASIO, these individuals believed they were spying for their country on those who were disloyal to their country. But spying is stressful, and it inflicted personal costs on each of the three, albeit in different ways. So it was not only the spied on but also the spy who suffered. Evdokia Petrov was a spy of a different kind and, as we shall see in Chapter 5, she too suffered and even more profoundly.


But first, some background on undercover agents.


Individuals who penetrate organisations on behalf of security services provide a crucial dimension of human intelligence (‘HUMINT’) and complement the more customary forms of external surveillance and electronic monitoring.10 According to the Church Committee, which investigated intelligence activity in the United States, ‘The paid and directed informant is the most extensively used technique in FBI domestic intelligence investigations. Informants were used in 85 per cent of [these] investigations’.11 Such is their value that, after recruitment, the security service ‘handler’, or control officer, devotes an inordinate amount of time and resources to the agent. This extends not only to the frequent meetings and debriefings but also to meeting the agent’s psychological and material needs and ameliorating doubts and insecurities.


These needs and anxieties could be considerable. To go undercover involves denial of identity, strain and loneliness. A Monash University student employed by ASIO remarked that ‘as time went on, my conscience started to get the better of me and the dilemma of being two people trapped me’.12 Another ASIO informant, Thomas Shepherd, recruited in his first year at Sydney University, suffered a nervous breakdown in 1976 when he could no longer cope psychologically with the conflicts of a compartmentalised life.13 From an earlier generation, in the United States, Matt Cvetic, an FBI ‘red hunter’, wrote: ‘During the [nine] years I posed as a Communist, I walked alone and I still walk alone’.14 Family, friends and acquaintances are necessarily lied to, believing the agent’s former values and beliefs have been jettisoned and an ideology that was previously anathema has been embraced. Their love, respect or allegiance is lost. Suspicion and stigma fill their place. The double life of an undercover agent is also perilous: covering tracks, maintaining a convincing persona, avoiding slips that could lead to exposure and, all the while, clandestinely collecting intelligence on the policies, activities and personnel of the target organisation. Occasionally, there is guilt at betraying people whom the infiltrator has come to respect or admire. Not surprisingly, the agent becomes emotionally dependent on the handler, who becomes the psychological release and outlet for the agent. The handler, in turn, has to be adept at adjusting expectations according to the personality and changing circumstances and opportunities of the agent.


The use of undercover infiltrators to spy on left-wing groups and organisations is, of course, widespread. In the early 1930s the British Communist Party allegedly became the ‘most heavily monitored nonviolent organization’ in British history.15 The moribund American Communist Party in the mid 1950s was so heavily infiltrated by FBI agents that at least one third of its members were plants.16 From 1970 to 2007, the Socialist Workers Party in the UK was continuously infiltrated by undercover officers of the Special Branch’s National Public Order Intelligence Unit—some of whom developed duplicitous sexual relationships, and even married and fathered children—and, overall, more than one thousand political groups were infiltrated.17 When Anne Neill was recruited in 1950, ASIO had fewer than a dozen agents inside the CPA.18 By the time Maxmilian Wechsler ‘went rogue’ in 1975, ASIO had fifty-five agents inside the CPA, and its coverage of ‘New Left’ groups and organisations was rapidly increasing.19


We cannot generalise about the background, motivations or handling of agents. In this book, we will see that William Dobson was a youthful adventurer from a working-class background, educated at a Catholic school. This meant he gravitated towards those within the labour movement dedicated to fighting communism. His unstable character was conducive to deception: he was no stranger to impersonation, fraud and forgery. Opportunism and self-aggrandisement, more than ideology, determined his behaviour. Anne Neill was an unassuming middle-aged Adelaide housewife concerned that the peace movement might be a communist front. Her innocuous appearance, described as ‘matronly’, and her willingness to undertake thankless, menial tasks helped her blend in more easily. She remained a highly effective, indefatigable undercover operative for eight years in the 1950s, sustained by a strong sense of patriotism. Her intelligence was deemed high grade (B2) and her worth personally acknowledged by ASIO’s Director-General, Brigadier Charles Spry. Wechsler was a Czechoslovak immigrant, apparently disillusioned after the Soviet invasion of Prague in 1968. He infiltrated both the CPA and the Trotskyist-leaning Socialist Workers League (like Thomas Shepherd after him) and suffered greatly from the strain. He was a ‘walk-in’ rather than deliberately targeted for recruitment by ASIO and, as a consequence, was not effectively controlled.


Unlike the many recruited university students assigned to penetrate New Left organisations from the 1970s,20 none of the three had a tertiary education. Although two received regular and increasing payments from ASIO, financial gain was not considered important. And unlike numerous informers in Great Britain and the United States, none was already an activist, and then converted to agent, within the target organisation, and none acted as an agent provocateur. Finally, none was able to identify activists who had become disillusioned or embittered and therefore ripe for ‘turning’ after an approach by ASIO.


What the three had in common, both with overseas informants and with each other, was the broad, basic assignment: intelligence-gathering.21 They were tasked by the security service to report not only on a particular activity, but also on an unrestricted range of information-collection on all aspects of the organisation. Of most importance was the identification of individuals, both members and office bearers. But additionally, they furnished the seemingly more prosaic details of meeting dates, times and places, membership lists, financial contributors, and addresses. When electronic recording devices were not used, a good memory was essential: reports were submitted of who said what at CPA branch or committee meetings. Copies of minutes, circulars, and other ‘internal’ literature were discreetly collected and handed over. If an organisation sympathetic to the CPA was infiltrated, the primary goal was to discover if it was dominated or controlled by the Party. An agent was especially valued if she or he were elected to a higher position, such as secretary (even of a front organisation), or as delegate to a state or national conference. One of our agents, Anne Neill, achieved this and more: remarkably, she travelled with a select communist delegation behind the Iron Curtain and to Moscow. As we shall see, each was eventually exposed as an ASIO undercover agent, though in quite different ways.


THE COMMUNIST PARTY


How was the CPA viewed by ASIO in the early Cold War, when Dobson made contact with ASIO in 1949, and when Neill was recruited in 1950? For the Chifley Labor government, local communists were a serious menace who had little legitimate part to play in the political order. During the seven-week, crippling 1949 general coal strike—when William Dobson gained his sobriquet ‘Diver’—communists were cast as subversive instruments of a foreign power and an alien ideology. As one Labor parliamentarian stated, ‘The Southern Cross is not good enough for them. They must worship a foreign star’.22 The coal strike, in official Labor’s view, was a communist conspiracy in which Moscow pulled the strings, local communists were the agents and democracy the intended victim. Consistent with Prime Minister Chifley’s memorable ‘boots and all’ speech, his government brutally broke the strike through fund-freezing legislation, jailings of union officials and deploying the Army to mine coal.23


Chifley believed the best way to fight communism was in the open. And that meant in the trade union movement, where the CPA had its greatest strength and influence. The Party’s cell structure, with its ‘fractions’ in each union, was mirrored by the ALP Industrial Groups, established specifically to fight ‘the comms’ on their own terms within the unions. The foot soldiers were known as Groupers, and Bill Dobson became a Grouper in 1949.


Robert Menzies was no less determined to defeat communism, but his approach differed from that of Chifley. By 1949, he had embraced the position of his Country Party allies and his conservative anti-communist supporters. No longer, as he believed in 1946, was ‘strength of argument’ sufficient to combat communism openly.24 Legal proscription was now the answer. ‘The Communists are the most unscrupulous opponents of religion, of civilised government, of law and order, of national security ... Communism in Australia is an alien and destructive pest. If elected, we shall outlaw it.’25


In December 1949 Menzies was elected. The first substantial piece of legislation introduced to the new parliament in 1950 was the Communist Party Dissolution Bill.26 The Party was duly declared a subversive and treasonous organisation and, if war were to eventuate, a fifth column. The enemy in this war was Russian communism and in the coming struggle local communists would give their allegiance to the Red Army and not to the Western alliance. They would become the enemy within. In advance of hostilities they would use their connections in key trade unions to disrupt the economy and their front organisations to undermine democracy.


Menzies had a strong conviction that another world war was both imminent and inevitable, and that it would imperil Western civilisation, Christian values and British racial identity. On several occasions in late 1950 he warned that the nation must prepare urgently for another world war and that this war would come within three years. Notwithstanding the distinct possibility that the Truman administration intended to deploy the atom bomb in Korea, we now know that Menzies’ fears about the danger of impending war did not materialise. But it is unhistorical to dismiss those fears as groundless because war did not occur. Menzies was part of that generation for whom war was not a remote hypothesis but a recent and frightful experience. The next war would be even more apocalyptic. Menzies’ concerns were shared and shaped by most political leaders in the West. On two visits to London, in 1948 and 1951, his anxieties were reinforced by his meetings with the British Prime Minister, Clement Attlee, and his Foreign Secretary and the architect of NATO, Ernest Bevin. These Labour men had no illusions about the Communist Party, its links to Moscow or Stalin’s desire to extend Soviet influence into Western Europe.



THE PEACE MOVEMENT


Notice of a meeting called by the Heidelberg branch of the Victorian Peace Council for the evening of Thursday, 13 July 1950, to advocate UN intervention to stop the war in Malaya, may have seemed innocuous to readers of their local paper.27 But not to the Menzies government. Anxiety about war was inextricably linked to concerns about peace activism. Underlying Menzies’ obsession—and it was a genuine, not a contrived or confected obsession—with the peace movement were defence and global war preparations within Australia and the mobilisation of the national security state.28


Menzies believed that peace activity would, to use the striking language of one government document, ‘morally cripple the government’s rearmament programme’ by distracting the attention of many Australians away from the menace of international communism.29 During his introduction of the Communist Party Dissolution Bill in April 1950, he argued that the communist-controlled peace movement was designed to ‘prevent or impair defence preparations in the democracies’.30 Other factors included the outbreak of the Korean War, which intensified both domestic anti-communism and the sense of impending international crisis, and the revelations overseas of communist spy rings and espionage operations that pointed to ‘fifth column’ activities.31


A further determinant of Menzies’ attitude was his ardent belief that the Australian peace movement followed closely the directives of the World Peace Council which, in turn, was a creation of the Soviet-inspired Cominform. Menzies had access to ample evidence from the Department of External Affairs (DEA), Naval Intelligence and the British Foreign Office that elaborated and validated these links.32 The Soviet Union’s ‘peace offensive’ involved using the peace movement to sow discord within society, weaken the resolve and the defence efforts of the West, and compromise the peacekeeping role of the United Nations. Stripped of its hyperbole, few in the Menzies government would have disagreed with this assessment made by a DEA officer in the early 1950s: ‘The Peace Movement is a revolutionary movement, a cloak by which the Soviet leaders hope to dissimulate Great Russian Imperialism. Conscious that its guise has been penetrated and exposed in many quarters, it continually seeks fresh means to ensnare the wary’.33


This, then, was the thinking that prevailed when Anne Neill was first encouraged by ASIO to penetrate the Peace Council in South Australia. Much was at stake and if penetration were successful, her contribution to national security would be indispensable.


By the time Max Wechsler became a paid informant, in the early 1970s, a vast amount of intelligence had already been collected on the CPA and the peace movement, particularly on the extent of Party control over the anti–Vietnam War campaigns. The Party itself had recently split, in 1971, primarily over the Soviet invasion of Czechoslovakia, and its influence in its 1940s bastion, the trade union movement, had diminished. However, ASIO could not free itself from the mindset that it constituted a significant threat to national security and continued to monitor, surveil and penetrate with agents. This perception only changed in the early 1980s.


The late 1960s witnessed the proliferation of a range of social movements revolving around issues of women’s equality, racism and the environment. They were part of the burgeoning New Left, a transnational and ecumenical phenomenon that differentiated and dissociated itself from communist parties linked, however informally, to the Soviet Union. Of particular interest to ASIO was the dramatic growth of non–Communist Party radicalism, especially among students and often driven by Trotskyists or Maoists. Consequently, new targets were identified, including Students for a Democratic Society, university labour clubs, the Draft Resistance Movement, the Worker-Student Alliance, the Young Socialist League and the Socialist Workers League (SWL). In one sense, the change in Wechsler’s role, from infiltrating the CPA to infiltrating the SWL, reflected a shift in ASIO’s countersubversion priorities. Wechsler was tasked with reporting on the SWL’s white-anting of the Australian Labor Party and on its links with the Australian affiliate of the Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine. The Palestine Liberation Organization was deemed a terrorist organisation, but ASIO’s counterterrorism priorities lay in the future.


SPIES


The remaining two chapters, on Evdokia Petrov and Michael Brown, are not concerned with ASIO agents or their Australian targets. Both were fully-fledged spies, the former a Russian, the latter an Englishman. They are included in this book for different reasons. Any study of trust and betrayal in Cold War Australia cannot ignore the significance of the Petrov defection. Defection is perhaps the ultimate betrayal—of faith, country and colleagues. Despite, or perhaps because of, a new identity provided by ASIO, in whom she must now place her trust, Evdokia remained unreconciled to her life in Australia; her feelings of betrayal of homeland and family were too persistent. The chapter reverses the usual emphases, both historical and historiographical, on Vladimir Petrov: his voice, the information he gave, the attention he received. This placed Evdokia on the margins of the Petrov story; the chapter will relocate her from the periphery to the centre by examining the personal difficulties and costs of her reluctant defection.


Although the case of Michael Brown triggered, in the words of a journalist, ‘the biggest Anglo-Australian spy scare since the Petrov case’,34 Brown was not a Soviet agent. However, he supplied secret documents to an Adelaide man who, possibly, was connected—and ASIO suspected as much—to a GRU (Soviet military intelligence) espionage network. While the KGB (or, in the Petrovs’ time, MGB, or Ministry of State Security) was focused on political, diplomatic and economic intelligence, the GRU, a separate organisation with a different network of spies, sought military and defence intelligence, especially any concerning weapons systems, missiles and atomic development. In 1958 in Australia the hot-button issue was Woomera and its missile testing. Michael Brown was employed on this project. Any compromise of the security at the Woomera site or its secrets was regarded with as much consternation as Tom Kaiser being involved with atomic-related research. In both instances, relations with Britain and the United States were at stake. The implications of American distrust of Australian security arrangements, discussed in chapters 2 and 6, were profound and go to the heart of a central concern of this book: with trust, betrayal and real or apparent threats to national security in Cold War Australia.
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THE SCIENTIST: TOM KAISER


On a balmy afternoon in late July 1949, Sir Frederick Shedden—the permanent head of the Australian Department of Defence, chairman of the Defence Committee and member of the Council of Defence—met with his British counterparts at the Ministry of Defence in Storey’s Gate, London. A short distance away, in The Strand, another Australian, a postgraduate student of nuclear physics named Thomas Kaiser, was participating in a small and ineffectual political protest outside Australia House. Neither Kaiser nor Shedden was aware of the other, and the reasons for each being in London that afternoon were not related. Yet very soon the career of the young scientist would become entangled with the concerns of the powerful bureaucrat. Australia’s troubled defence relationship with the United States and Great Britain provides the backdrop for this unusual connection, but an analysis of the so-called ‘Kaiser case’ will reveal the profound personal impact of the Cold War on this individual.


At the height of the bitter 1949 general coal strike in Australia, a tiny group of young Australians living in London decided to demonstrate against the Chifley government’s strike-breaking actions.1 For four hours on a warm summer’s day, they handed out a thousand leaflets to passing Londoners. The demonstrators paraded placards reading ‘Eight T[rade] U[nion] leaders Gaoled! WHY?’ and ‘Dr Evatt: Democracy Begins at Home’, while the leaflet explained the ‘savage acts’ of the Australian Labor government in terms of imminent global conflict: ‘Why this attack? Because Australia occupies an important place in the plans of groups in America and Britain who are planning a new world war … The workers are opposed to these war preparations ...’2


Notwithstanding the widely held conviction that the Cold War in 1949 could soon turn hot and escalate into World War III, such an insignificant demonstration would normally have been ignored by the mainstream press. It was small in scale, none of the six young demonstrators was well known, there was no violence or obstruction, the police were not involved, and it was all over by five o’clock. The next day, 28 July 1949, only the Daily Worker, published by the Communist Party of Great Britain, carried a brief report accompanied by a photograph.


That this incident would soon make not only front-page news, but also lead to an official inquiry by the Australian High Commissioner, heated parliamentary exchanges, agitation in the offices of the Defence Department and Prime Minister’s Department, and a flurry of top secret cables at the highest levels between London, Canberra and Washington, was due to an MI5 informant learning that the identity of one of the Australians was Thomas Reeve Kaiser. Some called Kaiser a potential traitor, others a full-blown ‘atom bomb spy’. But not Sir David Rivett, the recently retired chairman of Kaiser’s employer, the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO). He was not troubled by Kaiser’s ‘exploits’, which would have been ignored ‘if only the local British had observed it, but apparently Canberra has not got the same sense of indifference to youthful folly’.3 He significantly underestimated the intensity of Canberra’s concern.



GENESIS OF THE KAISER CASE


Who was this young man? Born in Ivanhoe, Melbourne, to working-class parents in 1924, Tom was a ‘battler’ but highly gifted.4 He won both Victorian and Commonwealth government scholarships to attend the University of Melbourne where he gained his degrees—a bachelor of science and a master of science, receiving first-class honours and the Hamilton Radio Prize—in 1943 and 1946; by then his scholarly interests centred on radar and radiophysics. Kaiser’s rebellious tendency was evident early. In 1942 he was fined £1 for ‘indiscipline’ towards Professor Thomas Laby, the head of the Department of Natural Philosophy. In early 1944 he was appointed an assistant research officer with the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), Division of Radiophysics, in the field of Radio Counter Measures. The secretary to the CSIR executive was ‘particularly desirous’ of getting Kaiser since he was ‘the best student of his year’.5


The potential displayed by Kaiser at the University of Melbourne was also evident in Sydney, to which he moved in August 1946 to take up an appointment at the CSIR’s Radiophysics Laboratory. In view of subsequent concerns that Kaiser posed a risk to national security (a theme discussed further in Chapter 6), it is important to note that the relationship between radiophysics and missile research was close. In May 1946, the UK Department of Supply sent its senior military adviser, Lieutenant-General JF Evetts, to Australia to select a testing site for long-range rocket development. The connection between missile research, radar research, in which Kaiser was engaged during the war, and radiophysics, in which he was fast earning a reputation, is revealed in a top secret and highly significant memorandum:


It is apparent that the question of use of C.S.I.R. facilities, in particular of the Radio Physics Laboratory, is a matter of great importance which requires consideration on the highest possible level. Applied radar research … is central to the development of guided projectiles, and, if, as a result of the report of the British mission headed by Lt. Gen. Evetts, the United Kingdom and Australian governments decide that Australia should be used for the testing and development of these weapons, it appears certain that the facilities of the Radio Physics Laboratory will be required in addition to … qualified personnel.6


In this context opportunities, particularly for overseas training, seemed ripe for Kaiser. In the meantime, the accolades kept coming. One report commented that he ‘has continued to demonstrate his exceptional ability and … is an outstanding young man. He is one of those who should be kept in mind for early experience overseas’.7 The acting director of the Radiophysics Division was even more glowing in his assessment:


I have found Kaiser to have an excellent background of physics and of the fundamentals of radio techniques. He shows imagination and initiative together with an excellent command of both experimental and theoretical techniques. I consider that he has a very good chance of developing into a first-rate research physicist, one well up to the standard of 1851 Exhibition scholars for example.8


It was therefore consistent that in November 1946 Kaiser should be awarded a highly competitive and well-remunerated CSIR postgraduate research scholarship to study overseas in a chosen field. A place had to be found for him, so the Divisional Chief of Radiophysics, EG Bowen, recommended Kaiser to Lord Cherwell, one of Britain’s leading physicists. Once again, Kaiser received an unqualified recommendation: ‘I can commend [Kaiser] to you as a brilliant young man … I have little doubt that he will develop into a research physicist of first-rate ability’.9 When it became clear, in June 1947, that the redoubtable Lord Cherwell would find a place for Kaiser, that he would give Kaiser ‘senior standing in view of his M.Sc at Melbourne University’, and that he would act as supervisor of his DPhil on nuclear physics,10 a brilliant career in a burgeoning field seemed assured for this young working-class lad. By July, Kaiser was sailing to England.


It is perhaps only the retrospective wisdom afforded the historian that enables warning signals to be identified. It is likely that Kaiser, infected with more than a touch of idealism, even naiveté,11 would have ignored or dismissed such signs, had he known of them. When he applied for a passport on 12 May 1947, a copy was forwarded to the security service. The Director of the Commonwealth Investigation Service (CIS) recommended to the Department of Immigration that a passport not be issued.12 In this and other correspondence to the Attorney-General’s Department, the connections between communism, atomic research and the potential for espionage were explicitly drawn.


It has been reported that Kaiser was present at the Australian Association of Scientific Workers symposium on the [Woomera] rocket range … and there expressed himself as being against the project … Information received is to the effect that [Kaiser] holds strong Communist views and is alleged to have stated some time ago that it was his intention to proceed to Canada to obtain employment in connection with Atomic Energy experiments … It is reported that he recently lectured to members of the [Communist] Party in connection with the Atom Bomb controversy … This further instance of Communist affiliation [sic] within the C.S.I.R. establishment (considering, also, the proceedings of the Canadian Royal Commission; and additionally the L.R.W.P.) is a matter of increasing security concern … The aforesaid information is brought to your notice in view of his Communist views and his expressed intention of seeking work in the Atomic field.13


One does not have to read between too many lines to recognise the suspicion that Kaiser, if not an ‘embryo Fuchs’, was a potential Nunn May, a likely ‘fifth column overseas’.14 Since the sensational defection in September 1945 of a Russian cipher clerk, Igor Gouzenko, the spectre of Soviet spy rings hovered over atomic establishments. Due to Gouzenko’s revelations, the British nuclear physicist Dr Alan Nunn May was arrested and convicted of espionage in 1946. Gouzenko’s testimony also triggered a chain of events, one of which was the establishment by the Canadian government of a royal commission whose report was widely read by security services in the West.15 Another was the decision by MI5 to place Klaus Fuchs, one of Britain’s top three atomic scientists and a Soviet spy, under surveillance. His arrest, interrogation and confession ultimately led to the execution of the Rosenbergs in 1953. Nevertheless, Australian security’s assessment of Kaiser still fell well short of Vladimir Petrov’s cryptic but conspiratorial assessment of Kaiser’s movements: ‘Went on a mission to England’.16


Kaiser was saved by bureaucratic slowness: by the time the Acting Secretary of the Department of Immigration acted, on 1 August 1947,17 Kaiser had already left the country. But what remained on his security file, and this was retrieved two years later, were several pieces of ‘incriminating’ evidence: his membership of a pro-communist organisation, the Australian Association of Scientific Workers (AASW);18 a clipping from the communist Tribune, dated 22 February 1946, reporting that Kaiser admitted to the Kingsford branch of the Labor Party that he was a member of the Communist Party; his attendance at an AASW conference on ‘Atomic Power and the International Co-operation of Scientists’ in April 1946; his participation in a ‘special meeting’ of the AASW in June 1946 to protest against the sentence imposed upon Alan Nunn May; and his contribution to an AASW symposium in April 1947 on the Long Range Weapons Project (LRWP), at which Kaiser ‘revealed in conversation’ to the CIS informant—who was a scientist and a security plant inside the AASW—that he ‘recently addressed Warragamba Dam employees on the rocket range and the atom bomb’. The final item was a copy of a small advertisement in Tribune advertising a farewell party for Tom Kaiser on 11 July 1947.19


For the next two years at Oxford, from late August 1947 until mid 1949, Kaiser was immensely productive. He commenced work in late 1947 on his doctorate at the Clarendon Physics Laboratory at Oxford University under the supervision of Lord Cherwell. During the war, Cherwell (aka Frederick Lindemann) had been Churchill’s personal scientific adviser; in the late 1940s he collaborated with Klaus Fuchs on the separation of isotopes at Britain’s atomic research station at Harwell. In 1948, Kaiser’s sustained work on the 16 MeV betatron, a machine he helped build that produced high speed electrons, received public prominence,20 and an article on his experiments with the 15 MeV synchrotron was published in Nature, a leading scientific journal.21 In the first six months of 1949, he prepared a further two articles for publication; delivered a paper to the annual convention of the Institute of Physics; and submitted his doctoral thesis, completed in less than two years, on ‘Experiments on the acceleration of charged particles’, for examination. Indeed, Kaiser was awaiting confirmation of his DPhil when he made that fateful trip to London.


Kaiser could not have anticipated that the afternoon of 27 July 1949 would change, utterly and irrevocably, the direction of his life. He joined with friends Beth and Ken Gott—a friendship forged through wartime involvement in the Melbourne University Labor Club—and commenced his political protest outside Australia House.22 All participants denied their communist connections and declined to identify themselves: the Cold War, after all, was extremely chilly in 1949.23 Unfortunately for Kaiser, he was recognised by a female employee of Australia House whom he had befriended two years earlier during the voyage from Australia to England. She informed authorities and soon after Kaiser was interviewed by Scotland Yard.


What followed, over the next six weeks, was a voluminous correspondence of memos, letters, cables and reports whose origins reflected the breadth of interest in the ‘Kaiser case’: the Chief Scientific Liaison Officer in London; the past and current chairmen of the CSIRO (Sir David Rivett and Dr Ian Clunies Ross); the Australian High Commissioner in London; the Australian Embassy in Washington; the US embassies in London and Canberra; the Australian security services; the Commonwealth Solicitor-General; Prime Minister Chifley; Minister for Defence JJ Dedman; and, significantly, officials in the US Department of State.24 Being the subject of such discussion and of such an avalanche of communication was immaterial to Kaiser.25 What mattered, for him, was that when it all stopped, he was without a job.


The grounds for his dismissal from the CSIRO were legally shaky and morally spurious. When he refused to return immediately to Australia, as instructed, on the grounds that he needed to ‘discharge [his] personal and scientific obligations’ and would return in October, the executive of the CSIRO deemed his refusal a ‘breach of discipline’ and thereby a technical basis for dismissal.26 There was no question of his incompetence, of his breaching the terms of the travelling scholarship, or even of his right to make public statements as a private individual about political issues unrelated to his employment. In fact, the strong impression from reading the minutes of the CSIRO executive meetings suggests that it favoured not the sack but merely a reprimand.27 Although Sir David Rivett commented that ‘[t]his man Kaiser is getting under my skin’, he recognised that the CSIRO had no regulation forbidding employees from ‘displaying their political leanings’.28 It was therefore not surprising that one executive member should comment in September that he was ‘still unclear on what precise grounds Mr Kaiser has been dismissed’. Certainly Kaiser himself, at least initially, expected exoneration:
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